
A
G

EN
D

A
 

O
U

TSTA
N

D
IN

G
 

A
C

TIO
N

S
STR

A
TEG

IC
 

M
A

T
TER

S
C

A
SE R

EP
O

R
TS 

FR
O

M
 P

SC

 

 

 
 

 

MINUTES Meeting date: Monday 27 January 2025  

 
IN ATTENDANCE ONLINE  
Members: 

• Suzanne Vestri (Convener) 

• Ashleigh Dunn  

• Helen Donaldson 

• Lezley Stewart 

• Morag Ferguson 

Executive Team Members: 

• Lorna Johnston (Executive Director) 
 
Observing: 

• Gillian McCreadie, Audit Manager, Audit Scotland (observing only) 
 

ITEM CONTENT ACTION 

STANDING ITEMS 

1.  APOLOGIES 
Apologies were received from Richard Wilson, Case Manager. 
 
DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
No declarations of interest were made. 
 

 
  

2.  MATTERS ARISING 
Members noted all matters arising from their last meeting, on 16 December 2024, were 
complete. 
 

 
 
 

CONSENT ITEMS 

3.  DRAFT MINUTE OF PREVIOUS MEETING  
Members reviewed and approved the minute of the meeting on 16 December 2024.   
 

 
 

STRATEGIC MATTERS 

4.  PROMOTING THE ETHICAL STANDARDS FRAMEWORK AND UPDATE ON OUTREACH WORK 
Members noted the outreach work undertaken since the last meeting. Members noted, in 

particular, that since the last meeting: 

• The Executive Director and Case Manager presented on the Councillors’ Code to elected 

members and officers of Argyll & Bute Council at an online session on 9 January 2025. 

• The Executive Director and Case Manager conducted a joint webinar on 16 January 2025, with 

the Improvement Service, for elected members on identifying and managing conflicts of 

interest. 

Members further noted that: 

• The Executive Director and Case Manager were due to conduct a joint webinar on 30 January 

2025, with the Improvement Service, for elected members on quasi-judicial and regulatory 

decision-making. 

• Staff and Members were due to attend a strategy day with the newly appointed public 

relations company on 29 January 2025, which is intended to help shape the focus of outreach 

and promotional work going forward.  

• The Executive Director was due to present on the Model Code to Board Members of the 

Crofting Commission on 26 February 2025. 

• The Executive Director and Case Manager had been asked to present a session on certain 

aspects of the Model Code to members of the Sottish Environmental Protection Agency on 

24 March 2025. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



2 
 

• The Standards Commission has been asked to present on the Councillors’ Code to elected 

members of East Lothian Council in Haddington on 13 March 2025. Members agreed Lezley 

Stewart would attend to support the Executive Director with the event. 

• The Convener was due to appear before the SPCB Supported Bodies Landscape Review 

Committee on 30 January 2025. Ahead of this evidence session, the Standards Commission 

had submitted a written response to the Committee’s initial questions on 14 January 2025. 

Following the appearance by the Convener and Executive Director before the Local Government, 

Housing and Planning Committee on 17 November 2024, the Scottish Government’s Local 

Government Team contacted the Executive Team noting that the Committee had asked a 

question about levels of trust in councillors in Scotland. The Local Government Team suggested 

that questions about this could be included in the next annual Scottish Household Survey. 

Members noted that the Standards Commission and Ethical Standards Commissioner (ESC) had 

agreed and submitted two questions for possible inclusion in the next survey. Members asked 

the Executive Team to keep them updated on this. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Executive 
Team 

5.  BUSINESS PLAN 2025/26 
Members reviewed and approved the draft Business Plan for 2025/26 prepared by the Executive 
Team. Members noted that the plan was based on the objectives outlined in the draft Strategic 
Plan for 2024/28 and followed its format. Members further noted that as the Standards 
Commission did not have any control over the timing of case referrals from the ESC, it may be 
that the indicated timescales for actions to be taken in respect of non-case related work may 
need to be altered during the year. 
 
Members noted that any outstanding activities from 2024/25, that the Standards Commission 
has been unable to action due to time and resourcing constraints, would be added before the 
Business Plan was finalised and published on the website.  
 
Members further noted that a draft Risk Register for 2025/26 would be circulated by email for 
approval. Members noted that, if necessary, they could discuss this at their Training and 
Development session scheduled to take place on 24 February 2025. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Executive 
Team 

BUSINESS MATTERS 

6.  PROGRAMME FOR STANDARDS OFFICERS’ WORKSHOP  
Members noted that the Standards Commission’s annual Standards Officers’ Workshop was due 
to be held online on Tuesday, 18 March 2025. 
 
Members agreed the content for the open discussions and the topics they wished to discuss with 
attendees during the breakout groups. Members noted that the ESC had agreed to provide a 
brief update on the work of his office. 
 
Members asked the Executive Team to circulate an invitation with the programme to all 
Standards Officers and any other relevant stakeholders. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Executive 
Team 

7.  REVISED SERVICE CHARTER  
Members reviewed the changes proposed by the Executive Team to the Standards Commission’s 
Service Charter, which outlines what service users can expect from the organisation, how service 
users can provide feedback and how complaints about the organisation will be handled. The 
Service Charter also outlines the standards the Standards Commission expect from service users 
contacting the organisation. 
 
Members noted that the minor changes proposed ensured the Service Charter reflected the 
revised values outlined in the 2024/28 Strategic Plan. In addition, the timescales for the provision 
of responses were reduced to reflect those outlined in the key performance indicators. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



3 
 

Members asked the Executive Team to make changes to the Service Charter before publishing 
the revised version on the website. 
 

Executive 
Team 

8.  REVIEW OF EXPENDITURE AGAINST BUDGET TO 31 DECEMBER 2024 
Members noted the report on expenditure to 31 December 2024 against budget. Members noted 
that the Standards Commission based its annual budget submission on its staffing and associated 
costs, business plan activities and funding for a projected number of Hearings. As expenditure 
associated with Hearings depends on a variety of factors, some of which are wholly outwith the 
Standards Commission’s control, it was not possible to forecast the resources required with any 
degree of certainty.   
 
Members noted that, due to the timing of Hearings, there had been a small overspend against 
budget in the year to 31 December 2024. Members noted that while it was expected that this 
would unwind over the next few months, this was dependent on whether the Standards 
Commission was able to recover judicial expenses awarded to it, as a result of an unsuccessful 
appeal against a Hearing decision, before the year end. Members noted that the Executive Team 
had been advised by Officeholder Services that the Standards Commission would have to seek 
contingency funding to cover any shortfall, should it become apparent that the expenses not be 
recovered by the year end. Members asked the Executive Team to keep them updated in this 
regard. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Executive 
Team 

9.  QUARTER 3 REVIEW OF PROGRESS AGAINST KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS AND ANNUAL 
REVIEW OF MEASURES  
Members reviewed performance in 2024/25 against the agreed internal and external key 
performance indicators (KPIs) for the nine months to 31 December 2024. Members were pleased 
to note that the majority of the targets had been met or exceeded.  
 

 
 

10.  SCOTTISH GOVERNMENT CONSULTATION ON PUBLIC SERVICES REFORM (SCOTLAND) ACT 
2010: EXTENSION OF PART 2 ORDER MAKING POWERS 
Members noted that the Scottish Government was consulting on renewing powers Scottish 
Ministers held under the Public Services Reform (Scotland) Act 2010.  Members noted the powers 
enable Ministers to propose changes to the law, in ways that are more streamlined and flexible 
than a new Act of the Scottish Parliament would require, in order to either: 

• improve the effectiveness, efficiency and economy of public service functions, or 

• reduce or remove burdens for a public body or other person resulting from legislation. 
 
Members agreed the major benefit of these order-making powers was to provide the 
Government and Parliament with the flexibility to make changes quickly, as and when 
opportunities arise, through secondary legislation. This helped enable public bodies, including 
the Standards Commission to undertake their functions in more effective, efficient and/or 
economical ways. Members agreed, therefore, that a response should be submitted to the 
consultation noting that the Standards Commission’s supported the proposal to renew the 
powers. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Executive 
Team 

11.  AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE MEETING ON 21 JANUARY 2025 
Members noted the minutes and the verbal report provided by the Chair of the Audit & Risk 
Committee, Ms Donaldson, of the meeting on 21 January 2025.   
 
Members agreed the draft audit plan proposed by Audit Scotland, for the 2024/25 audit.  
 
Members noted that the Committee had proposed that the Internal Auditor be invited to review 
how the Standards Commission conducted its Hearings, to make sure it did so in accordance with 
its own Rules, policies and any published procedures. Members agreed with the proposal and 
asked the Executive Team to notify the internal auditor accordingly. 
 

 



4 
 

Members noted that the Committee had conducted its final review of the 2024/25 Risk Register. 
Members agreed with the Committee’s recommendations in respect of changes to overall risk 
scores in light of activities undertaken. Members agreed that any ongoing risks should be 
incorporated in the Risk Register for 2025/26. 
 

CASES UPDATE 

12.  REPORTS FROM THE ESC & SECTION 14 LETTERS 
(a) LA/PK/4067: Members noted that a ‘do neither’ decision had been made on a report received 
from the ESC about a Perth and Kinross Councillor. 
 
(b) LA/H/3964: Members noted that the ESC had sent a draft breach report to a Highland 
Councillor under Section 14 of the Ethical Standards in Public Life etc. (Scotland) Act 2000. 

 

(c) LA/SL/3905: Members noted that a ‘do neither’ decision had been made on a report received 
from the ESC about a South Lanarkshire Councillor. 
 

(d) LA/WD/4108: Members noted that a ‘do neither’ decision had been made on reports 
received from the ESC about three West Dunbartonshire Councillors. 

 

(e) NHS/MIJB/4193: Members noted that a ‘do neither’ decision had been made on a report 
received from the ESC about a former member of Moray Health and Social Care Integration Joint 
Board. 

 

(f) LA/H/4078: Members noted that the ESC had sent a draft breach report to a Highland 
Councillor under Section 14 of the Ethical Standards in Public Life etc. (Scotland) Act 2000. 

 

(g) LA/WD/4109 and LA/WD/4118: Members noted that a ‘do neither’ decision had been made 
on a report received from the ESC about a former West Dunbartonshire Councillor. 

 

(h) LA/E/3691:  Members noted that a ‘do neither’ decision had been made on a report received 
from the ESC about a self-referral from six City of Edinburgh Councillors.  

 

(i) LA/AC/3994: Members noted that the ESC had sent a draft breach report to an Aberdeen City 
Councillor under Section 14 of the Ethical Standards in Public Life etc. (Scotland) Act 2000. 
 

 

13.  CASES 
(a) LA/Fa/3929: Members noted that Falkirk Council had confirmed that it had formally 
considered a decision the Standards Commission made at a Hearing held on 4 September 2024. 
 
(b) LA/Mi/4131: Members noted that a Hearing was held on 15 January 2025 in the Council 
Chambers, Midlothian House, Dalkeith.  The Respondent was found not to have breached the 
Code. 
 
(c) LA/AC/3986: Members noted that a Hearing was scheduled to take place online on 4 
February 2025. 

 

(d) LA/AB/3953: Members noted that a Hearing was scheduled to take place on 19 February 
2025 online and in private. 
 
(e) LA/H/3969: Members noted that a Hearing had been scheduled to take place on 25 March 
2025. Following adjournment requests from both the ESC and Respondent’s representative, the 
Hearing was now scheduled to take place on 15 April 2025 at the Council Headquarters, 
Inverness. 

 

 



5 
 

(f) LA/H/4078: Members noted that a Hearing was scheduled to take place online on 26 March 
2025. 
 

14.  INVESTIGATIONS EXCEEDING 3 MONTHS – INTERIM REPORTS 
(a) LA/H/4028: Members noted the contents of an interim report from the ESC advising that an 
investigation into a complaint about a Highland Councillor had taken more than six months to 
investigate. 
 
(b) LA/NA/4080: Members noted the contents of an interim report from the ESC advising that 
an investigation into a complaint about a North Ayrshire Councillor had taken more than three 
months to investigate. 

 
(c) LA/I/4085: Members noted the contents of an interim report from the ESC advising that an 
investigation into a complaint about an Inverclyde Councillor had taken more than three months 
to investigate. 

 

(d) LA/EL/4051: Members noted the contents of an interim report from the ESC advising that an 
investigation into a complaint about an East Lothian Councillor had taken more than three 
months to investigate. 

 

(e) FEC/SLC/3659 A and B: Members noted the contents of an interim report from the ESC 
advising that an investigation into a complaint about former members of South Lanarkshire 
College had taken more than six months to investigate. 

 

(f) LA/Fa/3910: Members noted the contents of an interim report from the ESC advising that an 
investigation into a complaint about a Falkirk Councillor had taken more than 12 months to 
investigate. 

 

(g) LA/AC/3990: Members noted the contents of an interim report from the ESC advising that an 
investigation into a complaint about an Aberdeen City Councillor had taken more than nine 
months to investigate. 

 

(h) LA/As/4024: Members noted the contents of an interim report from the ESC advising that an 
investigation into a complaint about an Aberdeenshire Councillor had taken more than six 
months to investigate. 
 

 
 
 
 

15.  FEEDBACK INCLUDING ANY HEARINGS SURVEY RESPONSES 
Members noted the feedback received from the Chief Executive of West Dunbartonshire Council 
following the no action decision on referrals LA/WD/4109 and LA/WD/4118. 
 

 
 

ANY OTHER BUSINESS 

16.  ANY EMERGING RISKS  
None identified. 
 
TOPICS FOR TRAINING AND DEVELOPMENT SESSION ON 24 FEBRUARY 2025 
Members agreed that topics to be covered at the training and development session scheduled 
to take place on 24 February 2025 should include: 

• Conducting Hearings; and 

• Producing high quality written decisions of Hearings. 
 
NEW MEMBER / CONVENER RECRUITMENT 
Members noted that Officeholder Services had advised that a new Member had been recruited 
by the Scottish Parliamentary Corporate Body. Background checks were being conducted, before 
the Scottish Parliament would be asked to approve the new Member’s appointment. 
 

 
 
 
 
 



6 
 

 

MEETING WITH UK GOVERNMENT ABOUT THE PROPOSALS TO STENGTHEN THE STANDARDS 
AND CONDUCT FRAMEWORK FOR LOCAL AUTHORITIES IN ENGLAND 
Members noted the Executive Director and ESC had met representatives from the UK 
Government Team leading work to strengthen the standards and conduct framework for local 
authorities in England on 21 January 2025. Members noted the update provided in respect of 
that process and the policy proposals that had been put forward. Members further noted the 
Executive Director and ESC had shared their thoughts and reflections on these, as well as 
information about the processes and experiences in Scotland. 
 
MS DUNN 
Members noted that Ms Dunn’s tenure was due to end at the beginning of March and, as such, 
the meeting was her last formal one as a Standards Commission member. On behalf of all 
Members and staff, Ms Vestri thanked Ms Dunn for her hard work and commitment, and noted 
the invaluable contribution she had made to the organisation. 
 
AGENDA ITEMS FOR NEXT SCS MEETING 
Members agreed to advise the Executive Director of any items to be included in the agenda for 
discuss at the next meeting. 
 

17.  2024/25 DIARY DATES AND WORKPLAN 
Members noted the diary dates and ongoing workplan.  
 
DATE OF NEXT MEETING  
Members noted that the next meeting of the Standards Commission was scheduled to take place 
online on Monday, 31 March 2025.  
 

 
 
 


